# Ordinance 22

#### COUNTY ROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY USE

Adopted by the Hennepin County Board of Commissioners November 14, 2000; Amended \_\_\_\_\_, 201\_

# **Table of Contents**

COUNTY ROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY USE	1
Table of Contents	1
Section 1 Findings and Purpose	3
Section 2 Election to Manage the Public Right-of-Way	3
Section 3 Definitions	4
Section 4 Utility Coordination Committee	8
Section 5 Registration	9
Section 6 Mapping Data	10
Section 7 Reporting Obligations	11
Section 8 Permit Requirements	12
Section 9 Permit Application	13
Section 10 Issuance of Permit	14
Section 11 Timeliness of Work	14
Section 12 Standards for Construction or Installation	14
Section 13 Restoration of Right-of-Way	15
Section 14 Other Obligations	16
Section 15 Denial of Permit	16
Section 16 Emergencies and Work Done Without a Permit	17
Section 17 Inspection	17
Section 18 Revocation of Permits	18
Section 19 Appeal	18
Section 20 Authority Over County-Owned Infrastructure and County Managed Public Rights-Of-Way, Placement, Location, and Relocation of Facilities	19
Section 21 Interference by Other Facilities	20
Section 22 Right-of-Way Vacation	20
Section 23 Abandoned Facilities	20
Section 24 Indemnification and Liability	21

Section 25 Severability	21
Section 26 Penalty or Fee for Violation	21
Section 27 Small Wireless Facilities	22
APPENDIX A: Fees and Right-of-Way Permit Application Web Site	27
APPENDIX B: Requirements for a Right-Of-Way Permit	28
APPENDIX C: MINNESOTA STATUTES SECTION 216D.03 to 216D.07	35

## **Section 1 Findings and Purpose**

Hennepin County (County) holds the rights-of-way within its geographical boundaries as an asset in trust for its citizens. Under Minnesota law, the county is to manage the use of the right-of-way and other uses for public purposes, including use by public utilities. To provide for the health, safety and well-being of its citizens and to ensure the structural integrity of its roads and the appropriate use of rights-of-way, the county strives to keep its rights-of-way in a state of good repair and free from unnecessary encumbrances.

This Ordinance imposes reasonable regulations on the use, placement, and maintenance of facilities currently within its rights-of-way or to be placed therein at some future time. It is intended to compliment the regulatory roles of all interested local, regional, state and federal agencies. Under this Ordinance, persons disturbing and obstructing the rights-of-way will bear a share of the financial responsibility for their restoration and integrity. Finally, this Ordinance provides for partial recovery of the county's costs associated with managing its rights-of-way.

This Ordinance shall be interpreted consistently with Minnesota Statutes sections 237.16, 237.162, 237.163, 237.79, 237.81, 238.086 (the Act), and the other laws governing applicable rights of the county and users of the rights-of-way.

# Section 2 Election to Manage the Public Right-of-Way

Pursuant to the authority granted to the county under state and federal statutory, administrative and common law, the county hereby elects pursuant to Minnesota Statutes section 237.163, subdivision 2(b), to manage rights-of-way under its jurisdiction.

- (a) "Manage the Right-of-Way" means the authority of the county to do any or all of the following:
  - 1. Require registration;
  - 2. Require construction performance bonds and insurance coverage:
  - 3. Establish installation and construction standards:
  - 4. Establish and define location and relocation requirements for equipment and facilities:
  - 5. Establish coordination and timing requirements;
  - 6. Require right-of-way users to submit to the county required project data reasonably necessary to allow the county to develop a right-of-way mapping system including geographic information system information;
  - 7. Require right-of-way users to submit, upon request of the county, existing data on the location of users' facilities occupying the public right-of-way within the county;
  - 8. Establish right-of-way permitting requirements for use, excavation, and obstruction;

- 9. Establish removal requirements for abandoned equipment or facilities, if required in conjunction with other right-of-way repair, excavation or construction; and
- 10. Impose reasonable penalties for unreasonable delays in construction or work conducted without having been issued the necessary permits.

#### **Section 3 Definitions**

The following words, terms and phrases, as used herein, have the following meanings:

"Abandoned Facility" means (1) a facility no longer in service and physically disconnected from a portion of the operating facility, or from any other facility, that is in use or still carries service; or (2) A facility that is deemed abandoned by the right-of-way user.

"Aerial" means work done above any part of the right-of-way.

"Applicant" means any person requesting permission to access, excavate/grade, place a utility service, place a wireless support structure or small wireless facility, landscape, or obstruct a right-of-way, who has completed a right-of-way permit application and has paid the appropriate permit fees.

"APS" means Accessible Pedestrian Signal.

"Collocate or collocation" means to install, mount, maintain, modify, operate, or replace a small wireless facility on, under, within, or adjacent to an existing wireless support structure that is owned privately or by a local government unit.

"Congested right-of-way" means a crowded condition in the subsurface of the public right-of-way that occurs when the maximum lateral spacing between existing underground facilities does not allow for construction of new underground facilities without using hand digging to expose the existing lateral facilities in conformance with Minnesota Statutes section 216D.04, subdivision 3, over a continuous length in excess of 500 feet.

"County" means Hennepin County, Minnesota.

"County Engineer" means the Hennepin County Highway Engineer or the county engineer's designee.

"County Management Costs" means the actual costs incurred by the county for public rights-of-way management; including, but not limited to, costs associated with registering applicants seeking permission to work within or obstruct a right-of-way; issuing, processing and verifying right-of-way or small wireless facility permit applications; inspecting job sites; maintaining, supporting, protecting or moving user equipment during public right-of-way work; determining the adequacy of right-of-way restoration; restoring work inadequately performed after providing notice and opportunity to correct the work; mapping of "as built" locations of facilities located in rights-of-way; and revoking right-of-way or small wireless facility permits and performing all other functions required by this Ordinance, including other costs the county may incur in managing the provisions of this Ordinance. Management costs do not include: payment by a telecommunications right-of-way user for the use of the public right-of-way; unreasonable fees of a third-party contractor used by the county as part

of managing its public rights-of-way, including but not limited to any third-party contractor fee tied to or based upon customer counts, access lines, revenue generated by the telecommunications right-of-way user, or revenue generated for the county; or the fees and cost of litigation relating to the interpretation of this section or Minnesota Statutes section 237.163, or any ordinance enacted under those sections, or the county's fees and costs related to appeals taken pursuant to Minnesota Statutes section 237.163, subdivision 5.

"Degradation" means a decrease in the useful life of the right-of-way caused by excavation in or disturbance of the right-of way, resulting in the need to reconstruct such right-of-way earlier than would be required if the excavation or disturbance did not occur.

"Degradation Cost" means the cost to achieve a level of restoration as determined by the county at the time the permit is issued.

"Degradation Fee" means the estimated fee established at the time of permitting by the county to recover costs associated with the decrease in the useful life of the right-of-way caused by the excavation, and which equals the degradation cost.

"Delay Penalty" means the penalty imposed as a result of unreasonable delays in right-ofway excavation, obstruction, patching, or restoration as established by permit.

"Department" means the Hennepin County Public Works Transportation Operations Department.

"Director" means the Hennepin County Transportation Operations Department Director or, unless the context indicates otherwise, the director's designees.

"Emergency" means a condition that: (1) Poses a clear and immediate danger to life or health, or of a significant loss of property; or (2) Requires immediate repair, replacement, or relocation in order to restore service to a customer.

"Emergency Hole" means the excavation of a hole necessitated by a condition creating a clear and immediate threat to life, health, safety or property or requiring immediate repair, replacement, or relocation in order to restore service to a customer.

"Engineer" means the Transportation Operations Department Permits Office Engineer/Supervisor or the engineer's designee whose office is located at 1600 Prairie Drive, Medina, Minnesota.

"Equipment" means any tangible asset used to install, repair or maintain facilities in any right-of-way.

"Facility or Facilities" means any tangible asset in or above the right-of-way required to provide related service to citizens or businesses within or adjacent to the county.

"High Density Corridor" means a designated portion of the public right-of-way within which telecommunications right-of-way users having multiple and competing facilities may be required to build and install facilities in a common conduit system or other common structure.

"Hole" means an excavation in the right-of-way, with the excavation having a length less than the width of the corresponding lane of traffic or boulevard for the section of the roadway corridor where the work is occurring.

"Local Government Unit" means a county, home rule charter or statutory city, town, or the Metropolitan Council.

"Micro wireless facility" means a small wireless facility that is no larger than 24 inches long, 15 inches high, and whose exterior antenna, if any, is no longer than 11 inches.

"Moratorium" means the period of time following a road surfacing project where excavations in the paved surface are prohibited, except for emergency repairs.

"Obstruct" means to place any tangible object in a public right-of-way so as to hinder free and open passage over that or any part of the right-of-way for an aggregate period of one-half (1/2) hour or more in conjunction with the issuance of a right-of-way permit.

"Patch or Patching" means a method of pavement or boulevard replacement that is temporary in nature. A patched pavement consists of: (1) the compaction of the subbase and aggregate base, and (2) the replacement, in kind, of the existing pavement for a minimum of two feet beyond the edges of the excavation in all directions. A patched boulevard may include the above definition if the disturbed surface is a paved walk, trail, or property access, or may consist of earthen backfill without turf if the disturbed surface is turf.

"Pavement" means any type of improved surface that is within the public right-of-way and that is paved or otherwise constructed with bituminous, concrete, aggregate, or gravel.

"Permit Holder" means any person to whom a right-of-way permit to work or place equipment or facilities in a right-of-way has been granted by the county under this Ordinance.

"Person" means an individual or entity subject to the laws and rules of this state, however organized, whether public or private, whether domestic or foreign, whether for profit or nonprofit, and whether natural, corporate, or political. Examples include, but are not limited to: A business or commercial enterprise organized as any type or combination of corporation, limited liability company, partnership, limited liability partnership, proprietorship, association, cooperative, joint venture, carrier or utility, and any successor or assignee of any of them; A social or charitable organization; and Any type or combination of political subdivision, which includes the executive, judicial or legislative branch of the state, a local government unit, or a combination of any of them.

"Registrant" means any person (1) who has or seeks to have its facilities or equipment located in any county managed public right-of-way; or (2) who in any way occupies or uses, or seeks to occupy or use, the right-of-way or place its facilities or equipment in the right-of-way.

"Restore or Restoration" means the process by which the right-of-way and surrounding area, including pavement, turf and other county facilities, are returned to the same condition and useful life that existed before intrusion or encroachment by a person's facilities.

"Restoration Cost" means the amount of money paid to the county by a permit holder to achieve the level of restoration according to Hennepin County standards.

"Right-of-Way" means the area on, below, or above a public roadway, highway, street, cartway, bicycle trail or lane, boulevard, and public walk in which the county has an interest, including other dedicated rights-of-way for travel purposes and utility easements of the county.

"Right-of-Way Permit" means a permit which must be obtained before a person may work in a right-of-way. A right-of-way permit allows the permit holder to work in that part of the right-of-way described in the permit. The right-of-way permit must be obtained before a person may obstruct a right-of-way. The permit allows the permit holder to hinder free and open passage over the specified portion of that right-of-way by placing equipment, constructing an excavation, or installing aerial facilities described therein on the right-of-way for the duration specified in the right-of-way permit.

"Right-of-Way User" (1) A telecommunications right-of-way user as defined by Minnesota Statutes section 237.162, subdivision 4; or (2) A person owning or controlling a facility in the public right-of-way that is used or is intended to be used for providing utility service, and who has a right under the law, franchise or ordinance to use the public right-of-way.

"Service or Utility Service" Includes but is not limited to: (1) Those services provided by a public utility as defined in Minnesota Statutes section 216B.02, subdivisions 4 and 6; (2) Telecommunications, pipeline, community antenna television, fire and alarm communications, water, sewer, electricity, light, heat, cooling energy, or power services; (3) The services provided by a corporation organized for the purposes set forth in Minnesota Statutes section 300.03; (4) The services provided by a district heating or cooling system; (5) Cable communication systems as defined in Minnesota Statutes chapter 238; and (6) Telecommunications right-of-way user as defined in this section.

"Small wireless facility" means: (1) a wireless facility that meets both of the following qualifications: (i) each antenna is located inside an enclosure of no more than six cubic feet in volume or, in the case of an antenna that has exposed elements, the antenna and all its exposed elements could fit within an enclosure of no more than six cubic feet; and (ii) all other wireless equipment associated with the small wireless facility, excluding electric meters, concealment elements, telecommunications demarcation boxes, battery backup power systems, grounding equipment, power transfer switches, cutoff switches, cable, conduit, vertical cable runs for the connection of power and other services, and any equipment concealed from public view within or behind an existing structure or concealment, is in aggregate no more than 28 cubic feet in volume; or (2) a micro wireless facility.

"Telecommunications Right-of-Way User" means a person owning or controlling a facility in the right-of-way, or seeking to own or control a facility in the right-of-way, that is used or is intended to be used for providing wireless service, transporting telecommunications or other

voice or data information. For purposes of this Ordinance, a cable communications system defined and regulated under Minnesota Statutes chapter 238, and telecommunications activities related to providing natural gas or electric energy services whether provided by a public utility as defined in Minnesota Statutes section 216B.02, a municipality, a municipal gas or power agency organized under Minnesota Statutes chapters 453 and 453A, or a cooperative electric association organized under Minnesota Statutes chapter 308A, are not telecommunications right-of-way users, except to the extent these entities are offering wireless service.

"Trench" means an excavation in the right-of-way, with the excavation having a length equal to or greater than the width of the corresponding lane of traffic or boulevard for the section of the roadway corridor where the work is occurring. For the purpose of this Ordinance the definition shall include directional boring and/or plowing.

"Utility pole" means a pole that is used in whole or in part to facilitate telecommunications or electric service.

"Wireless facility" (a) means equipment at a fixed location that enables the provision of wireless services between user equipment and a wireless service network, including: (1) equipment associated with wireless service; (2) a radio transceiver, antenna, coaxial or fiber-optic cable, regular and backup power supplies, and comparable equipment, regardless of technological configuration; and (3) a small wireless facility. "Wireless facility" does not include (1) wireless support structures; (2) wireline backhaul facilities; or (3) coaxial or fiber-optic cables (i) between utility poles or wireless support structures, or (ii) that are not otherwise immediately adjacent to or directly associated with a specific antenna.

"Wireless service" means any service using licensed or unlicensed wireless spectrum, including the use of Wi-Fi, whether at a fixed location or by means of a mobile device, that is provided using wireless facilities. Wireless service does not include services regulated under Title VI of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, including a cable service under United States Code, title 47, section 522, clause (6).

"Wireless support structure" means a new or existing structure in a public right-of-way designed to support or capable of supporting small wireless facilities, as reasonably determined by a local government unit.

"Wireline backhaul facility" means a facility used to transport communications data by wire from a wireless facility to a communications network.

"Work" means to dig into or in any way remove or physically disturb or penetrate any part of a right-of-way, or encroachment into the right-of-way including above ground.

## **Section 4 Utility Coordination Committee**

The county may create an advisory utility coordination committee. Participation on the committee is voluntary. It will be composed of any registrants that wish to assist the county in obtaining information and by making recommendations regarding the use of the right-of-way, and to improve the process of performing construction work therein. The director may

determine the size of such committee and shall appoint members from a list of registrants that have expressed a desire to assist the county.

# **Section 5 Registration**

- (a) **Registration**. Each person who occupies or uses, or seeks to occupy or use, or seeks to place any equipment or facilities, small wireless facilities, or wireless support structures in or on the right-of-way, including persons with installation and maintenance responsibilities by lease, sublease or assignment, must register with the county. The county requires registration using the county's e-permitting system to perform permitted work in the county managed public right-of-way. In order for the registration to remain active, the certificate of insurance for the registered user must be updated annually by submitting a certificate of insurance to the department's Permits Office.
- (b) **Registration Required Prior to Work**. (1) No person shall construct, install, repair, remove, relocate or perform any work within any right-of-way without first being registered pursuant to this section; and (2) Registration shall be required on an annual basis.
- (c) **Exceptions**. The following are not subject to the requirements of this section:
  - 1. Persons planting or maintaining boulevard surface plantings or gardens. Planting shrubs or trees requires registration prior to obtaining a right-of-way permit;
  - Residents or businesses owning sanitary sewer and water service lines to a city main or owning drain tile lines shall not be required to register unless requested by the county, but shall be required to register in order to obtain a right-of-way permit for excavation and obstruction when said lines are installed, repaired, removed or relocated within the right-of-way; and
  - 3. Persons acting as agents, contractors, or subcontractors for a registrant who has properly registered in accordance with this section.
    - However, nothing herein relieves a person from complying with the provisions of the Minnesota Statutes chapter 216D, "Gopher State One Call" law.
- (d) **Registration Information**. The registrant shall provide the following at the time of registration and shall promptly notify the county of changes in such information:
  - 1. Registrant's name, address, telephone number and e-mail address;
  - 2. Name, address, telephone number and e-mail address of the person responsible for fulfilling the obligations of the registrant;
  - 3. A certificate of insurance from a company authorized to do business in the State of Minnesota or proof of self-insurance providing minimum coverage as stated on the right-of-way permit application form;
  - 4. 24-hour emergency telephone number of a local representative who shall be available at all times;

- 5. An acknowledgment by the registrant of the indemnification of the county pursuant to section 24.0 of this Ordinance; and
- 6. Such additional information as the county may require.

The registrant shall keep all the information listed above current at all times by providing to the engineer information as to changes within 15 days following the date on which the registrant has knowledge of any change.

# **Section 6 Mapping Data**

(a) **Information Required**. Each registrant and permit holder shall provide mapping information required by the county in accordance with Minnesota Rules 7819.4000 and 7819.4100.

Therefore, in managing the use of its public rights-of-way, the county may establish, develop, and implement a right-of-way mapping system as follows. The purpose of a mapping system is to:

- 1. Allow flexibility in its use by the county as an effective management tool;
- 2. Enhance public safety and user facility safety;
- 3. Provide for long-term cost savings;
- 4. Improve public right-of-way design quality;
- 5. Limit disruptions to traffic which inconvenience the traveling public; and
- 6. Allow for better information collection and cooperative usage among local government units, telecommunications companies, and other users of the public right-of-way.
- (b) **Application Required**. When the county requires a right-of-way permit for work in its right-of-way, a person wishing to undertake a project within the public right-of-way shall submit a right-of-way permit application, which may require the filing of mapping information pursuant to subsection (c).
- (c) **Information**. The county may require as part of its permit application the filing of all the following information:
  - 1. Location and approximate depth of applicant's mains, cables, conduits, switches, and related equipment and facilities, with the location based on:
  - Offsets from property lines, distances from the centerline of the public right-ofway, and curb lines as determined by the county;
  - Coordinates derived from the coordinate system being used by the county; or
  - Any other system agreed upon by the right-of-way user and the county.
  - 2. The type and size of the facility;
  - 3. A description showing above ground appurtenances;

- 4. A legend explaining symbols, characters, abbreviations, scale, and other data shown on the map;
- 5. The location of other utilities within the proposed work zone, the location of which established with a Gopher State One Call design locate, as required; and
- 6. Any facilities to be abandoned, if applicable, in conformance with Minnesota Statutes section 216D.04, subdivision (d).
- 7. Confirmation that proposed attachments and/or structures meet current state and national roadside safety requirements (for example, crash worthiness).
- (d) **Changes and Corrections**. The application must provide that the applicant agrees to submit "as built" drawings, reflecting any changes and variations from the information provided under subsection (c), items 1 to 5.
- (e) **Additional Construction Information**. In addition, the right-of-way user shall submit to the county at the time the project is completed a completion certificate by changing the status of the permit to "Ready for Inspection."
- (f) **Manner of Conveying Permit Data**. A right-of-way user is required to provide or convey mapping information or data in a format approved by the engineer. If the right-of-way user cannot provide the information in a format approved by the engineer, a right-of-way permit application fee may include the cost to convert the data furnished by the right-of-way user to a format currently in use by the county.
- (g) **Data on Existing Facilities**. At the request of the county, a right-of-way user shall provide existing data on its existing facilities within the public right-of-way in the form maintained by the user at the time the request is made, if available.

# **Section 7 Reporting Obligations**

Each registrant shall, at the time of registration and by January 1 of each year, file a construction and major maintenance plan for all work within the county right-of-way for the upcoming year with the engineer. Such plan shall be submitted using a format designated by the engineer and shall contain the information determined by the engineer to be necessary to facilitate coordination and reduction in the frequency of excavations and obstructions of right-of-way.

The plan shall include, but not be limited to, the following information:

(a) To the extent known, the tentative locations and the estimated beginning and ending dates of all projects contemplated for the five years following the next calendar year.

The engineer will have available for inspection in the department's Permits Office a composite list of all projects of which the engineer has been informed in the annual plans. All registrants are responsible for keeping themselves informed of the current status of this list. Each registrant must notify the engineer immediately of any change in its list of projects.

In addition, the registrant shall map electronically upcoming major projects onto the county's established mapping application. Information on the mapping application can be obtained by contacting the department's Permits Office. Mapping major projects is a condition of obtaining permits from the county. As of 2017, the county's established mapping application is Utility Infrastructure Integration, UI2.

# **Section 8 Permit Requirements**

(a) **Permit Required**. Except as otherwise provided in this Ordinance, no person may obstruct or work in any right-of-way without first having been issued the right-of-way permit pursuant to this section.

#### Exceptions are as follows:

- 1. Metro Transit signing, plus red/white "T" signs on existing posts;
- Crosswalk painting and pavement markings desired by the city and authorized by the county (county policy provides that the county install the initial pavement markings on new surfacing. Subsequent pavement marking maintenance is the responsibility of the city);
- 3. Install and maintain Metro Transit bus benches (not bus shelters);
- 4. Snowplow sidewalks;
- 5. Street and sidewalk sweeping;
- 6. Install and maintain street name signs, ground mount;
- 7. Sewer cleaning;
- 8. TV sewer-line inspection;
- 9. Flush water mains;
- 10. Pump water (across road) with hose in street;
- 11. Surveying operations;
- 12. Movement of maintenance equipment (city equipment) which is over-dimensioned/ overweight;
- 13. Mailbox installation: and
- 14. Utility company (routine maintenance) in rights-of-way, along with similar city maintenance which do not disrupt a surface or through lane of traffic. Sewer lining which requires temporary divergence piping requires a permit.

A right-of-way permit is required for the permit holder to work in that part of the right-of-way described in each permit to the extent and for the duration specified in the permit.

- (b) **Permit Extension**. No person may work in or obstruct the rights-of-way beyond the date specified as the end date the permit application or do any work beyond that date specified in the permit. The engineer, at the county's discretion, may extend the completion date or scope of the work if the specified work could not be done because of circumstances beyond the control of the permit holder.
- (c) **Penalty for Violation of Ordinance**. A person shall be subject to a penalty for violation of the Ordinance as stipulated in section 26.

# **Section 9 Permit Application**

Application for a right-of-way permit is made to the engineer. Right-of-way permit applications shall contain, and will be considered complete only upon compliance with the requirements of the following provisions:

**Application and Fee**. An application for a right-of-way permit shall be made using the county's current e-permitting system and shall be accompanied by fees for: (1) permit application (APPENDIX A); (2) prior work in the rights-of-way; and (3) any undisputed loss, damage, or expense suffered by the county because of prior work in the rights-of-way or any emergency action taken by the county in regard to facilities comprehended in the permit application (4) other fees as allowed by applicable statutes.

A separate right-of-way permit is required for work within each county road right-of-way for each municipality where work will take place. For work that extends greater than one mile, a separate right-of-way permit is required for each mile of work. Small Wireless Facilities are subject to Minnesota Statutes section 237.163, subdivision 3(a)4(b)(1). Please see section 27(a) of this Ordinance.

#### Application shall include:

- 1. Appropriate engineering scale drawings showing the location of all facilities and improvements proposed;
- 2. Location and approximate depth of the subject and related facilities and any other facilities in the immediate vicinity;
- 3. A description of the methods that will be used in the work;
- 4. The Hennepin County road and associated right-of-way affected by the work;
- 5. Offset distances from the roadway centerline to the back of curb or edge of pavement surface and the associated right-of-way line;
- 6. A legend explaining symbols, characters, abbreviations, scale, north arrow, and other data;
- 7. The location of any public streets, trails, walks or alleys and private property accesses that will be temporarily closed to use during the work;
- 8. Any facilities to be abandoned, if applicable, in conformance with Minnesota Statutes section 216D.04, subdivision 3; and
- 9. The location and approximate depth of all other utility in the vicinity of the project shall be included following a design Gopher State One Call locate request.
- 10. Confirmation that proposed attachments and/or structures meet current state and national roadside safety requirements (for example, crash worthiness).
- 11. Any other information reasonably required by the county.

#### Section 10 Issuance of Permit

- (a) **Permit Issuance**. The engineer shall issue a right-of-way permit upon finding the work will comply with the requirements of this Ordinance.
- (b) **Conditions**. The engineer may impose reasonable conditions upon the issuance of the permit and the performance of the permit holder thereunder to protect the public health, safety and welfare; to ensure the structural integrity of the rights-of-way; to ensure completion of the rights-of-way restoration within a specified period; to protect the property and safety of other users of the rights-of-way; to minimize the disruption and inconvenience to the public; or when necessary to protect the right-of-way and its current and future use. The county may require, in its discretion, that a right-of-way applicant install additional, related fiber-optic infrastructure, at county's reasonable expense, for use by the county and its partners. The engineer and the applicant shall collaboratively develop infrastructure specifications, additional cost estimates and documentation necessary to transfer right, title and interest to the county. In addition, the permittee shall comply with all requirements of local, state, and federal laws, including but not limited to Minnesota Statutes chapter 216D (Excavation Notice System) and Minnesota Rules chapter 7560.
- (c) Small wireless facility conditions. See section 27 of this ordinance.

#### **Section 11 Timeliness of Work**

The work to be done under the right-of-way permit and the patching and restoration of the right-of-way as required herein, must be completed within the dates specified in the permit. Work progress shall be continuous and completed as promptly as weather permits. At no time shall an excavation be open for more than three calendar days without continuing work unless prior authorization has been received from the engineer. Restoration of an excavation in the road surface shall commence with 24 hours of work completion. Restoration of an excavation outside of the road surface shall commence within seven calendar days of work completion. Lane closure restrictions shall be specified by the county.

### Section 12 Standards for Construction or Installation

The requirements and standards for facility construction or installation are contained in APPENDIX B.

By accepting the right-of-way permit from the county, the permittee acknowledges receipt of sections 216D.03 to 216D.07 of Minnesota State Law chapter 216D, One Call Excavation Notice System, which is contained in APPENDIX C.

# Section 13 Restoration of Right-of-Way

The county may choose either to have the permit holder restore the surface portion of the rights-of-way or to restore the surface portion of the rights-of-way itself.

- (a) **County Restoration**. If the county restores the rights-of-way, the permit holder shall pay the costs thereof within 30 days of billing. If, during the 24 months following such restoration, the restored surface settles due to the permit holder's improper back filling, the permit holder shall pay to the county, within 30 days of billing, all costs associated with the county having to correct the settlement.
- (b) **Permit Holder Restoration**. If the permit holder is to restore the right-of-way, at the time of application, the county may require the perspective permit holder to post a construction performance bond, letter of credit or cash deposit in an amount determined by the engineer to be sufficient to cover the cost of restoration. The construction performance bond or letter of credit must be approved by the County Attorney's Office. If, within 24 months after completion of restoration of the right-of-way, and acceptance by the engineer, the engineer determines the right-of-way has been properly restored, the posted security will be released.
- (c) **Degradation Fee in Lieu of Restoration**. In lieu of right-of-way restoration, a permit holder may elect to pay a degradation fee. However, the permit holder shall remain responsible for replacing and compacting the subgrade and aggregate base material in the excavation and the degradation fee shall not include the cost to accomplish these responsibilities.
- (d) **Standards**. The permit holder shall perform temporary surfacing, patching and restoration including backfill, compaction, and landscaping according to the standards and with the materials specified by the engineer. The engineer shall have the authority to prescribe the manner and extent of the restoration and may do so in written procedures of general application or on a case-by-case basis. The engineer, in exercising this authority, shall comply with Public Utilities Commission (PUC) standards for right-of-way restoration and require conformance to Minnesota Department of Transportation (MnDOT) standard specifications and local government specifications and shall further be guided by the following considerations:
  - 1. The number, size, depth and duration of the excavations, disruptions or damage to the right-of-way;
  - 2. The traffic volume carried within the right-of-way and the character of the neighborhood surrounding the right-of-way;
  - 3. The pre-existing condition of the right-of-way and the remaining useful life of the right-of-way affected by the excavation;
  - 4. Whether the relative cost of the method of restoration to the permit holder is in reasonable balance with the prevention of an accelerated depreciation of the right-of-way that would otherwise result from the work, disturbance or damage to the right-of-way; and

- 5. The likelihood that the particular method of restoration would be effective in slowing the depreciation of the right-of-way that would otherwise take place.
- (e) **Guarantees**. If the permit holder performs the restoration, the permit holder shall guarantee such work and its maintenance for 24 months following its completion and acceptance by the engineer. During this 24-month period it shall, upon notification from the engineer, correct all defective restoration to the extent necessary within five business days of the receipt of notice, using the method required by the engineer. If the defective work is not corrected by the permit holder, and the county does such work and sends a bill to the permit holder, who fails to pay for such work, the county may exercise its rights under the construction performance bond.

# **Section 14 Other Obligations**

- (a) **Compliance With Other Laws**. The permit holder must obtain all other necessary permits, licenses, and approvals and pay all fees required. The permit holder shall comply with all requirements of local, regional, state and federal laws, including Minnesota Statutes chapter 216D (Excavation Notice System). A permit holder shall perform all work in conformance with all applicable codes and established rules and regulations and is responsible for all work done in the right-of-way pursuant to its permit, regardless of who does the work.
- (b) **Prohibited Work**. Except in an emergency, and with the approval of the engineer, no work within the paved surfaces of the right-of-way may be done when seasonally prohibited or when conditions are unreasonable for such work.
- (c) **Maintenance of Drainage Within Right-of-Way**. A permit holder shall not so obstruct a right-of-way that the natural free and clear passage of water along the gutters or other waterways shall be interfered with. If surface drainage is to be affected, the permit holder must be responsible for the proper disposition of the runoff.
- (d) **Excavation Moratorium**. Except in an emergency, and with the approval of the engineer, no excavations within the paved surface are allowed for a period of five years following new pavement surfacing of the roadway.

#### **Section 15 Denial of Permit**

The engineer may deny a permit based on any of the following grounds:

- (a) Failure to register pursuant to section 5.0 of this Ordinance;
- (b) The proposed schedule for work would conflict or interfere with a previously issued permit for an exhibition, celebration, festival or any other similar event;
- (c) The applicant and/or prospective permit holder fails to comply with the requirements of this Ordinance:
- (d) The proposed work violates local zoning regulations; and

(e) The engineer determines that denial is necessary to protect the health, safety and welfare of the public or protect the right-of-way and its current use.

The engineer will not deny an application for a right-of-way permit for failure to include a project in a plan submitted to the county, if the registrant has used commercially reasonable efforts to anticipate and plan for the project.

Small Wireless Facilities Permit Denial or Revocation. See section 18 and section 27 of this Ordinance.

# **Section 16 Emergencies and Work Done Without a Permit**

Each registrant shall immediately notify the engineer of any event regarding its facilities that it considers to be an emergency. The registrant may proceed to take whatever actions are necessary to respond to the emergency. Within two business days after the occurrence of the emergency, the registrant shall apply for the necessary permits, pay the permit fees, and fulfill the remaining requirements necessary to bring itself into compliance with this Ordinance for the actions it took in response to the emergency.

If the engineer becomes aware of an emergency regarding a registrant's facilities, the engineer shall attempt to contact the local representative of each registrant affected, or potentially affected, by the emergency. The engineer may take whatever action deemed necessary to respond to the emergency, the cost of which shall be borne by the registrant whose facilities occasioned the emergency.

# **Section 17 Inspection**

The permit holder shall contact the department's Permits Office a minimum of one business day in advance prior to the site inspection.

- (a) **Site Inspection**. The permit holder shall make the work site available to the engineer and to all others authorized by law for inspection at all reasonable times during the execution of and upon completion of the work.
- (b) **Authority of Engineer**. At the time of inspection, the engineer may order the immediate cessation of any work which poses a serious threat to the life, health, safety or well-being of the public. The engineer may issue an order to the permit holder for any work which does not conform to the terms of the permit or other applicable standards, conditions or codes. The order shall state that failure to correct the nonconformity within a stated deadline will be cause for revocation of the permit. The engineer will send written notice to a Small Wireless Facility permit holder no later than the third business day after giving a verbal stop work order, which will identify the alleged violation. If the violation is not corrected at the permit holder's sole expense within the stated deadline, the engineer may revoke the permit and coordinate the county's correction of the nonconformity.

#### **Section 18 Revocation of Permits**

- (a) **Substantial Breach**. The engineer may revoke a right-of-way permit, without a fee refund, if there is a substantial breach of the terms or conditions of any applicable statute, this Ordinance, rule or regulation, or any condition of the permit. A substantial breach of a permit shall include, but not limited to, the following:
  - 1. The violation of any material provision of the right-of-way permit;
  - 2. Any material misrepresentation of fact in the application for a right-of-way permit;
  - 3. The failure to maintain the required bonds or other security and insurance;
  - 4. The failure to complete the work in a timely manner, unless a permit extension is obtained or unless the failure to complete the work is due to reasons beyond the permit holder's control;
  - 5. The failure to correct, in a timely manner, work that does not conform to applicable standards, conditions or codes, upon inspection and notification by the county of the faulty condition;
  - An evasion or attempt to evade any material provision of the right-of-way permit, or the perpetration or attempt to perpetrate any fraud or deceit upon Hennepin County or its citizens; and
  - 7. The failure to comply with the terms and conditions of any applicable federal, state, regional and local laws, rules and regulations, including any provision of this Ordinance.
- (b) **Notice of Breach**. If the engineer determines that a permit holder has committed a substantial breach of a term or condition of any statute, this Ordinance, rule or regulation or any condition of the permit, the engineer shall make a written demand upon the permit holder to remedy such breach within a reasonable period of time or be subject to potential revocation of the permit. The engineer may impose additional or revised conditions on the permit to mitigate or remedy the breach.
- (c) **Reimbursement of County Costs**. If a permit is revoked, the permit holder shall reimburse the county for its reasonable costs, including nonconformity correction and/or restoration costs and the costs of collection and reasonable attorney fees incurred in connection with the revocation. Such reimbursement shall be made within 30 days of billing.

# **Section 19 Appeal**

**Filing of Appeal**. A right-of-way user that: (1) has been denied registration; (2) has been denied a right-of-way permit; (3) has had right-of-way permit revoked; or (4) believes that the fees imposed are invalid, may have the denial, revocation, or fee imposition reviewed, upon written request, by the county engineer. The county engineer shall act timely on the written request. Should the matter not be resolved to the satisfaction of the right-of-way user after timely review by the county engineer, the right-of-way user may submit the denial,

revocation, or fee imposition for review to the County Board of Commissioners. The board shall act on a timely written request at its next regularly scheduled meeting. A decision by the board affirming the denial, revocation, or fee imposition will be in writing and supported by written findings establishing the reasonableness of the decision.

# Section 20 Authority Over County-Owned Infrastructure and County Managed Public Rights-Of-Way, Placement, Location, and Relocation of Facilities

- (a) **Priority of Use**. The county has priority of use of county-owned infrastructure, and county managed public right-of-way.
  - To the extent consistent with applicable federal, state, and local law, the county
    engineer may determine that certain classes of county-owned infrastructure or
    specific units of county-owned infrastructure are necessary for the county's exclusive
    use due to legal, mechanical, structural, safety, environmental, service, or other
    requirements and are unavailable for use by any other person.
- (b) **Placement, Location, and Relocation**. Placement, location, and relocation of facilities must comply with the Act, other applicable law, and Minnesota Rules 7819.3100, 7819.5000, and 7819.5100. By submitting a request for a permit, the applicant recognizes the work must conform to the existing ordinances and codes of other units of government related to facility placement regardless of how the application is written or permit granted.
- (c) **Limitation of Space**. To protect health, safety, and welfare or when necessary to protect the right-of-way and its current use, the county shall have the power to use best management practices to prohibit or limit the placement and location of new or additional facilities within the rights-of-way.
- (d) **Relocation of Facilities**. The registrant must promptly and at its own expense, with due regard for seasonal working conditions, move and relocate its facilities in the right-of-way whenever it is necessary to prevent interference, and not merely for the convenience of the county, in connection with: (1) a present or future use of the right-of-way for a public project; (2) the public health or safety; or (3) the safety and convenience of ordinary travel over the right-of-way. This relocation applies to temporary as well as permanent relocations of the registrant's facilities.
- (e) **Relocation Notification Procedure**. The county engineer shall notify the registrant at least six months in advance of the need to relocate existing facilities so the registrant can plan the relocation. The director shall provide a second notification to the registrant one month before the registrant needs to begin the relocation. The registrant shall begin relocation of the facilities within one week of the second notification. All facilities shall be relocated within one month. The county engineer may allow a different schedule if it does not interfere with the county's project. The registrant shall diligently work to relocate the facilities within the above schedule.
- (f) **Private infrastructure**. The county engineer shall notify the owner of infrastructure occupying the county managed public right-of-way anytime private infrastructure or its

technology interferes with, or causes degradation to, the county's existing or future public infrastructure or technology. The owner of the private infrastructure shall coordinate with the county to resolve the identified issue(s) within one month of notification. A resolution that addresses the issue(s) shall be implemented within one month, weather permitting. The owner of the private infrastructure is responsible for all costs associated with the resolution. All private infrastructure and its associated technology must meet all federal, state, and local requirements, and must adhere to all State and Federal roadside safety requirements.

- (g) **Delay to County Project**. The county engineer shall notify the registrant if the registrant's progress will not meet the relocation schedule.
- (h) Unauthorized attachments and facilities prohibited.
  - 1. No person shall knowingly affix, install, place, attach, maintain, or fail to remove an unauthorized attachment or other facility to county-owned infrastructure or in the county managed public right-of-way or other property of the county on demand by the county or any authorized representative thereof.
  - No person shall use an attachment or other facility on county-owned infrastructure of county managed public right-of-way or other property of the county to provide a service not authorized by a permit, license, or other authority.
  - 3. Each unauthorized attachment or use is a separate offense. Each day a violation of this Ordinance continues is a separate offense.

# Section 21 Interference by Other Facilities

When the county does work in the rights-of-way as part of its governmental right-of-way management function and finds it necessary to maintain, support, or move a registrant's facilities to carry out the work without damaging the registrant's facilities, the director shall notify the registrant's local representative as early as is reasonably possible. The county costs associated therewith will be billed to the registrant and must be paid within 30 days from the date of billing.

Each registrant shall be responsible for the cost of repairing any facilities in the right-of-way which it or its facilities damage.

# **Section 22 Right-of-Way Vacation**

If the county vacates a right-of-way that contains the facilities of a registrant, the registrant's rights in the vacated right-of-way are governed by Minnesota Rule 7819.1250 and other applicable laws.

### **Section 23 Abandoned Facilities**

A registrant shall notify the county when facilities are to be abandoned in county right-ofway. A registrant that has abandoned facilities in a county right-of-way shall remove them from that right-of-way if required in conjunction with other right-of-way repair, excavation or construction, unless this requirement is waived by the director.

# **Section 24 Indemnification and Liability**

By registering with the county, or by accepting a permit under this Ordinance, a registrant or permit holder agrees to defend and indemnify the county in accordance with the provisions of Minnesota Rule 7819.1250.

# **Section 25 Severability**

If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this Ordinance is for any reason held invalid or unconstitutional by any court or administrative agency of competent jurisdiction, such portion shall be deemed a separate, distinct and independent provision and such holding shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof.

# **Section 26 Penalty or Fee for Violation**

A person shall be subject to a fee or penalty for violation of this Ordinance when a person is obstructing the right-of-way beyond the date specified in the permit, is performing non-emergency work in the right-of-way without having been issued a permit or when a person causes the county to incur costs as a result of actions or inactions of the person.

(a) **Delay Penalty.** The county hereby establishes a delay penalty for unreasonable delay in right-of-way excavation, obstruction, patching, or restoration. The delay penalty shall be reviewed from time to time by the County Board of Commissioners. A delay penalty will not be imposed for delays due to force majeure, including inclement weather, civil strife, acts of God, or other circumstances beyond the control of the permit holder.

The delay penalty for violation of this Ordinance will be levied daily as long as the violation occurs. The amount of the delay penalty will be based upon the following calculation, which reflects the unnecessary inconvenience and hazard exposure to the public.

AADT/TL x LO x 0.0167 x \$6.81

Where:

AADT is the most recent annual average daily traffic reported for the county road segment along which the work site is located.

TL is the number of through lanes within the county road segment along which the work site is located.

LO is the number of lanes obstructed (wholly or in part) by the work site.

0.0167 is the delay in hour measurement, vehicles experience along the county road segment in which the work site is located.

\$6.81 (2017 rate) is the hourly value of a person's time in a vehicle as determined by the county.

The minimum penalty for delay shall be \$100.00 per day and the maximum penalty for delay shall be \$1000.00 per day.

(b) **Fee for Violation.** A fee for violation of this Ordinance shall be imposed when a person is performing non-emergency work in the right-of-way without having been issued a permit or when a person causes the county to incur costs as a result of actions or inactions of the person. The fee shall be based on the actual costs incurred by the county to correct the violation.

#### **Section 27 Small Wireless Facilities**

- (a) **Small Wireless Facility Permits.** A telecommunications right-of-way user seeking to place a new wireless support structure or collocate a small wireless facility in any county managed public right-of-way must obtain a permit or permits pursuant to this Ordinance and all other applicable laws. An applicant may file a consolidated small wireless facility collocation permit application addressing the proposed collocation of no more than 15 small wireless facilities provided that all small wireless facilities in the application are on county owned structures and:
  - (1) are located within a two-mile radius;
  - (2) consist of substantially similar equipment; and
  - (3) are placed on similar types of wireless support structures.

*Exemptions*. No small wireless facility collocation permit is required to conduct the following activities in the right-of-way:

- (1) routine maintenance of a small wireless facility;
- (2) replacement of a small wireless facility that is substantially similar or smaller in size, weight, height, and wind, or structural loading than the small wireless facility being replaced; or
- (3) Installation, placement, maintenance, operation, or replacement of micro wireless facilities that are suspended on cables strung between existing utility poles in compliance with national safety codes.

If any of the above activities will obstruct the right-of-way, the user must obtain a right-of-way use permit.

- (b) **Permission from Owner.** If the applicant seeks to collocate a small wireless facility on an existing wireless support structure that is not owned by the county, the applicant must, at the time of application, provide the county with proof that it has obtained the necessary authority from the owner of the wireless support structure to collocate the small wireless facility on the structure.
- (c) Approval of small wireless facility permits.

Deadline for action. The engineer and all other county officials and departments have 90 days after the receipt of a small wireless facility permit application to issue or deny the permit. In rendering a decision on a consolidated permit application, the county may

approve some small wireless facilities and deny others, but may not use the denial of one or more attachments as a basis to deny all small wireless facilities in the application.

If the county receives applications within a single seven-day period from one or more applicants seeking approval for 30 or more small wireless facilities, the county may extend the 90-day deadline by an additional 30 days. The county will send written notifications to any applicant whose application will be subject to the extension.

Conditions for approval. The engineer will condition approval of a small wireless facility permit on compliance with; (1) generally applicable and reasonable health, safety, and welfare regulations consistent with the county's right-of-way management; (2) reasonable accommodations for decorative wireless support structures or signs; and (3) any reasonable restocking, replacement, or relocation requirements when a new wireless support structure is placed in a public right-of-way.

Tolling the deadline. The deadline for action on a small wireless facility permit may be tolled if

- 1. The engineer issues a written notice of incompleteness to the applicant within 30 days of receipt of the application, which clearly and specifically delineates all missing documents and information. Upon submission of additional documents or information the county will have 10 days to notify the application of any still-missing information that was outlined in the original written notice. Any missing information that was not clearly and specifically delineated in the initial written notice of incompleteness does not toll the 90-day clock.
- 2. The county and applicant mutually agree in writing to toll the review period.
- (d) **Permit denial or revocation.** The engineer may deny any application for a right-of-way or small wireless facility permit if the telecommunications right-of-way user does not comply with a provision of this Ordinance to the extent consistent with law or if the permit would be contrary to generally applicable and reasonable health, safety, and welfare regulations. The county must notify the applicant in writing within three business days of its decision to deny the permit. Upon denial, the applicant may cure the deficiencies identified by the county and resubmit its application. If the applicant resubmits the application within 30 days of receiving written notice of the denial, an additional filing or processing fee must not be required. The county must approve or deny the revised application within 30 days after the revised application is submitted.

Generally applicable health, safety, and welfare regulations for the purposes of this section specifically includes, but is not limited to, the following:

1. The engineer may require the applicant to submit a structural engineering analysis by a Minnesota registered professional engineer certifying that the pole or other structure that is proposed to support the attachment can reasonably support the proposed attachment considering the conditions of the street, the anticipated hazards from traffic to be encountered at the location and considering the wind, snow, ice, and other conditions reasonably anticipated at the proposed location.

- 2. If the engineer determines based upon reasonable engineering judgment that a user's attachment impairs the safety, purpose, or structural integrity of county-owned infrastructure, the engineer may require the user, at the user's sole expense and risk, to change, move, remove, or rearrange the attachments.
- 3. The engineer may inspect, at any time, the construction or installation of a user's attachments on county-owned infrastructure. If the engineer determines that a user's installation or construction may violate applicable regulations, including, but not limited to, this Ordinance, the National Electric Code, the National Electric Safety Code, the county's standards for the county-owned infrastructure involved, or the conditions of the user's application or permit, the engineer may suspend the user's construction or installation activities.
- 4. The engineer may deny an application if:
  - a. The engineer determines, based upon reasonable engineering judgment, that the proposed attachment does not comply with the definition of a Small Wireless Facility or if the county-owned structure fails a structural engineering analysis.
  - b. The engineer reasonably determines, based upon reasonable engineering judgment, that the proposed attachment would likely jeopardize the reliability or integrity of the electrical system or of individual units of county-owned infrastructure, or would likely violate generally applicable electrical or engineering principles.
  - c. The proposed attachment would present an unreasonable safety hazard as specifically and reasonably identified by the engineer.
  - d. Approval would impair the county's ability to operate or maintain countyowned infrastructure in a reasonable manner considering reasonable goals or standards for operating the infrastructure involved.
  - e. There is insufficient capacity on the county-owned structure or placement of the attachment would violate the National Electric Safety Code or the county's standard design criteria, and the county infrastructure cannot reasonably be modified, enlarged, or replaced at the cost of the applicant.

Revocation. The engineer may revoke a right-of-way or small wireless facility permit granted to a telecommunications right-of-way user without refund pursuant to section 18 of this ordinance in the event of a substantial breach, of the terms and conditions of statute, ordinance, rule, or regulation or any material condition of the permit.

Denial Procedural Requirements. The engineer will notify a telecommunications right-of-way user in writing within three business days of the decision to deny a permit and will document the basis for denial.

(e) **Term.** The term of a small wireless facility permit will be equal to the length of time that the small wireless facility is in use, unless earlier revoked under this section.

- (f) **Requirements for New Wireless Support Structures.** New wireless support structures that comply with the following requirements may be placed in the right-of-way after the issuance of a small wireless facility right-of-way permit:
  - 1. A new wireless support structure must not exceed 50 feet above ground level, subject to local zoning regulation, and must be separated from other wireless support structures by a minimum of 600 feet.
  - 2. A wireless support structure that replaces an existing wireless support structure that is higher than 50 feet above ground level may be placed at the height of the existing wireless support structure and is subject to local zoning regulation and county approval. A height greater than the existing structure is also subject to local zoning regulation and county approval.
  - 3. The diameter of a wireless support structure that replaces an existing wireless support structure must not exceed the diameter of the existing wireless support structure by more than fifty percent.
  - 4. Wireless facilities constructed in the right-of-way after May 31, 2017 must not extend more than 10 feet above an existing wireless support structure in place as of May 31, 2017.
- (g) **Requirements for Small Wireless Facilities.** A small wireless facility that complies with the following requirements may be collocated on a wireless support structure within the right-of-way after the issuance of a small wireless facility permit:
  - 1. The small wireless facility must have limited exposed cabling and mounting hardware. It must also match the wireless support structure it is attached to in color and, as close as practicable, in material and design.
  - 2. The small wireless facility must not interfere with public safety wireless telecommunications.
  - 3. Small wireless facilities in the right-of-way must be removed and relocated at the county's request and at no cost to the county when the engineer reasonably determines that removal and relocation is necessary to prevent interference with the following, which includes but is not limited to: present or future county use of the right-of-way for a public project; the public health, safety, or welfare; or the safety and convenience of travel over the right-of-way.
  - 4. A small wireless facility attached to an existing wireless support structure must not block light emanating from the wireless support structure and must not otherwise interfere with the original use of the wireless support structure.
  - 5. Ground-mounted equipment associated with small wireless facility is prohibited unless the applicant can show that ground-mounted equipment is necessary for operation of the small wireless facility. If ground-mounted equipment is necessary it must meet the following standards:

- a. Ground-mounted equipment must not disrupt traffic or pedestrian circulation and must not interfere with vehicle or pedestrian intersection sight lines or operation of existing utilities or access to them;
- b. Ground-mounted equipment must not create a safety hazard;
- c. The ground-mounted equipment minimizes impacts on adjacent property;
- d. If placed above grade, ground-mounted equipment must be limited to three feet in height and 28 cubic feet in cumulative size;
- e. If placed above grade, be separated from a sidewalk or other existing utilities, (for example, hydrants) by a minimum of three feet;
- f. If placed above grade, screening compatible with the surrounding area must be provided around the ground-mounted equipment must be provided if deemed necessary by the engineer.

# **APPENDIX A: Fees and Right-of-Way Permit Application Web Site**

#### PERMIT AND OTHER FEES:

Activity	Fee
Permit Fee	\$330 per application (2017 rate)
Penalty or fee for violation	Delay Penalty: Minimum \$100 per occurrence per day Maximum \$1,000 per occurrence per day Fee for violation: actual county cost to correct
Small wireless facility rent	\$150 per year per facility collocated on a county-owned structure
Small wireless facility maintenance	\$25 per year for maintenance associated with collocation on a county-owned structure
Small wireless facility collocation permit fee	\$1,500 per collocation on county-owned structures
Monthly fee for electricity used to operate a small wireless facility	The county will not supply electricity for the operation of small wireless facilities. Electricity must be purchased directly from a utility.

Note that fees are periodically adjusted by the Hennepin County Board.

#### **RIGHT-OF-WAY PERMITS:**

Right-Of-Way and Utility permit applications are available at <a href="https://roadpermits.co.hennepin.mn.us">https://roadpermits.co.hennepin.mn.us</a>

# **Contact Information Hennepin County Transportation Operations Permits Office**

Phone: 612-596-0339 Fax: 612-321-3410

Hours: Monday – Friday 7 a.m. to 3:30 p.m.

Email: roadpermits@hennepin.us

# **APPENDIX B: Requirements for a Right-Of-Way Permit**

#### **GENERAL REQUIREMENTS FOR RIGHT-OF-WAY PERMIT**

All warning devices and barricades shall conform to the Minnesota Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MNMUTCD), current edition, and any and all updates or supplements thereto.

All warning devices, barricades, flagmen and equipment shall be provided by parties or organizations performing the work. Said devices shall be removed from the job site promptly upon completion of work.

Standard warning devices and barricades and safety vests shall be kept clean and in good repair at all times.

Detour on a county roadway requires 10 working days' advance notice to the Hennepin County Permits Office.

Excavations shall be cribbed, sheeted, and/or fenced when necessary, or as required by Hennepin County.

Inclement weather shall be reason for delay of the work start or suspension of the work as determined by Hennepin County.

Safety vests shall be worn by ANYONE occupying county managed public right-of-way.

**Right-of-Way Permit on Job** - Permits or copies shall be kept on the work site, while work is in progress, in the custody of the individual in charge, and shall be exhibited upon request by any county official.

**Provisions and Specifications** - These general permit requirements and specifications shall be considered as forming an integral part of each and every permit issued for operations on county roadways. The work authorized by this permit shall be done at such time and in such manner as shall be consistent with the safety of the public and shall conform to all requirements and standards of the county as herein specified. If at any time, the county finds that the work is not being, or has not been, properly performed, the permit holder, upon being notified, shall immediately take the necessary steps, at its expense, to place the work in conformance to said requirements or standards.

**Annulment** - In the event of failure or neglect, willfully or not, by the permit holder or permit holder's employees, to perform and comply with the prescribed conditions restrictions and regulations, the director may revoke and annul this permit and order the permit holder to immediately remove any and all structures of property belonging to the permit holder from the legal limits of the roadway or county property.

**Execution** - The permit holder shall use due diligence in the execution of the work authorized under this permit in order not to endanger or unnecessarily obstruct travel along the county road corridor. Operations shall be so conducted at all times as to permit safe and reasonably free travel over the roads within the limits of the work herein prescribed. All

safety measures for the free movement of traffic shall be provided by the permit holder at its own cost.

**Conformity to Laws** - The installation shall be made in conformity with all applicable laws, regulations and codes covering said installations. All installations shall be made in conformity with regulations of governmental agencies for the protection of the public.

**Americans with Disabilities Act** (ADA) – Pedestrian facilities on public rights-of-way are required to be accessible to persons with disabilities through the following federal statutes:

- Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (section 504) (29 U.S.C. 5794) and
- Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. 59 12131-12164)

Title II of the ADA governs all state and local governments and their agencies and facilities, regardless of the funding source. All pedestrian facilities within the public rights-of-way designed, constructed, and/or altered on behalf of or for the use of a public entity must be readily accessible to and usable by persons with disabilities.

**Removal** - If at any time the permitted structure or facility shall fail from any cause whatsoever, the permit holder shall have the same removed or repaired immediately upon receipt of written notice to do so.

**Existing Facilities** - The permit holder must protect all existing installations.

**Private Property** - The permit as issued does not in any way imply an easement on private property or grant a right to encroach on private property.

**Damage to Roadway** - If pavement, roadway or right-of-way is damaged, same shall be restored, in a timely manner to its original or better condition, at the sole expense of the permit holder. Permit holder's failure to correct such damage in a timely manner will result in Hennepin County, through its own forces or contractors, making said repairs and billing permit holder for all costs and expenses related thereto. Permit holder shall make payment to Hennepin County within 30 days of receipt of said bill. Permit holder agrees that if it fails to make payment of said amounts within the specified time, to Hennepin County, it shall pay all costs relating to debt collection, including, but not limited to, court costs, fees, interest and attorneys' fees.

**Quality of Work** - Finished surface, base and sub-base of road upon completion of work shall be equal to or better than specifications for the original roadway surface.

**Cutting of Trees** - The permission herein granted does not confer upon the permit holder the right to cut, remove or destroy trees or shrubbery within the legal limits of the roadway or relieve permit holder from obtaining any consent otherwise required from the owner of the property adjacent thereto. A tree replacement plan must be included with the permit application for any project that includes the removal of trees within the county road right-of-way. Tree replacements plans will be submitted by the department's Permits Office to Hennepin County's Department of Environment and Energy for approval.

**Boring or Jacking** - Installation of cable and pipe under roadways, shall be jacked or bored as designated by the engineer. No road or driveway, including field accesses, may be crossed with a vibratory plow.

**Liner or Casing Pipe** - Liner or casing pipe shall be required for jacking installations exceeding four inches in diameter unless a certified Minnesota Department of Transportation (MnDOT) "jacking" reinforced concrete pipe is utilized for storm drainage applications. MnDOT specifications shall govern placement. The casing shall be filled with sand or pea rock and the ends shall be grouted and or bricked shut. Pressure grouting shall be required as designated by Hennepin County.

**Drainage** - The existing drainage patterns shall not be altered unless approved by Hennepin County. Watershed District approval and drainage calculations are required if the work alters existing drainage patterns. Post-construction flow rates entering Hennepin County's drainage system, overland or through pipes, shall not exceed pre-construction rates for the two, 10 and 100-year events.

**Pole Anchors** - No pole anchors, anchors, braces or construction shall occur on the right-of-way except by permit authorization.

**Driving Limitations** - No driving onto highway from ditch or driving on shoulders or over curbs shall occur where damage will occur.

**Lugs on equipment** - No lugs shall be used on equipment traversing Hennepin County roadways.

**Clean-up** - Street surface and roadside shall be kept clean, neat and presentable throughout construction as determined by the department.

**Erosion, Sediment, and Dust Control** – The permit holder will be responsible for utilizing Best Management Practices in managing storm water. Erosion, sediment control and water quality practices that are most effective and practicable means controlling, preventing, and minimizing degradation of waters of the state, including avoidance of impacts, general housekeeping practices, pollution prevention practices, operating and maintenance procedures and other applicable management practices shall be utilized. Erosion, sediment, and dust control shall be provided upon request of the department.

**Trees and Vegetation** - Burning or disking operations and or the use of chemicals to control or kill trees, brush, and other vegetation is prohibited without the engineer's approval.

**Restoration** - It shall be further understood that the permit holder will be responsible for maintenance or repair of any and all failures due to settlement, erosion, lack of vegetation growth, rutting or other job related problems for a period of two years after project completion and Notice of Work Completion form has been received by the county. The permit holder shall perform all said maintenance immediately after it has been notified of said deficiency. The permit holder shall be responsible for all costs and expenses related to said maintenance. The permit holder's failure to immediately perform maintenance will result in Hennepin County, through its own forces or its contractor, performing said

maintenance and billing the permit holder for all costs and expenses related thereto. The permit holder shall pay the county within 30 days of receipt of said bill. The permit holder agrees, that if it fails to make payment of said amounts within the specified time the permit holder shall pay all costs related to debt collection, including, but not limited to, court costs, fees, interest and attorneys' fees.

**Manholes** - All manhole covers, valve covers, etc. shall be placed one-half inch lower than finished grade.

**Winter Restoration** – Permanent restoration plans must be submitted to the department's Permits Office prior to starting construction or temporary restoration/winter stabilization for work occurring between November 1 and April 30.

#### SPECIAL PROVISIONS FOR RIGHT-OF-WAY PERMIT

Communication: The permit holder shall call the Permits Office at 612-596-0339 or the number listed in the special provisions of the permit prior to construction. The permit holder shall provide a representative on site at all times and an emergency contact available, 24 hours per day, seven days per week.

Work Hours: The permit holder shall not work within the Hennepin County roadway surface during AM or PM traffic rush hour periods, nor before sunrise or after sunset, unless authorized by the engineer.

NO WORK PERMITTED WITHIN ROADWAY SURFACE DURING: Winter (November 15 through April 15), or Saturdays, Sundays, or holidays unless daily "Special Permission" is obtained from the engineer.

Notification: The applicant shall be responsible for obtaining permits from any affected municipality or MnDOT. The applicant shall notify all affected emergency personnel, public transit officials, local residents or any other affected group. The applicant shall utilize the "Gopher State One Call" excavation notice system as required under Minnesota Statutes chapter 216D, 48 hours prior to performing any excavation by submitting a request electronically at www.gopherstateonecall.org/submit or by calling one of the following Gopher State One Call numbers: 811 (Call Before You Dig); 651-454-0002 or 800-252-1166.

Specifications: The MnDOT Standard Specifications for Construction, current edition, shall govern all installations performed under this permit.

Survey: The installations shall be surveyed by the applicant to ensure correct placement within the right-of-way. The applicant is required to preserve all existing survey monuments. If the county determines survey monuments have been disturbed during construction activities, the applicant shall accept full responsibility for all costs incurred to re-establish these monuments.

Traffic Control: The permit holder shall furnish, install, and maintain all required traffic control devices according to the MNMUTCD, "Temporary Traffic Control Zone Layouts Field Manual", current edition; the MNMUTCD, current edition; the MnDOT Standard

Specifications for Construction, current edition; and the MnDOT Traffic Engineering Manuals, current editions. As the Road Authority, the county retains the right to require additional traffic control at its discretion. Detour routing shall require a minimum 10 working days advance notice to the county.

Tree Removal: No tree or substantial shrub shall be removed from existing or dedicated right-of-way unless written permission is obtained. This permit will not serve as permission to remove vegetation from county property. The permit holder will be responsible for obtaining written permission from any property owner prior to removing any vegetation. All plants or trees removed or damaged shall be replaced in kind by the permit holder. A tree replacement plan must be included with the permit application for any project that includes the removal of trees within the county road right-of-way. Tree replacements plans will be submitted by the engineer to the Department of Environment and Energy for approval.

#### Trenching:

- Trenches for all utilities shall be located as approved by the county. Trenches, located parallel with the county road, shall not be left opened for a distance greater than 300 feet.
- Excavated materials shall be placed or stored on the side of the operation farthest from the traveled roadway and an adequate distance from the edge of the excavation to prevent trench collapse. The material shall not impede any existing drainage.
- After the work has been completed, the excavation may be backfilled with the
  original excavated material unless it consists of peat, muck, soft or unstable soil,
  boulders or large rock. If the excavated material is unsuitable, it shall be disposed of
  off county managed public right-of-way and replaced with granular or suitable clay
  soils as approved by the county.
- All trenching shall be backfilled by the "Quality Compaction Method" as defined in the current edition of the MnDOT Standard Specifications for Construction.
- The use of flow-able fill as a backfilling material is prohibited unless prior permission is received from the engineer.
- The backfill, compaction, and restoration shall occur immediately after the installation of the underground facility.

Gravel Aggregate Base: Aggregate base shall meet "Class 5" requirements as stated in the current edition of MnDOT Standard Specifications for Construction.

Gravel Aggregate Surfacing: Aggregate surface shall meet "Class 2" requirements as stated in the current edition of MnDOT Standard Specifications.

Directional Boring: All hard surfaced roadways and entrances shall be jacked or bored. All bored pipe installed perpendicular to county roadways, larger than four inch diameter, shall be pulled through a larger diameter carrier pipe as directed by the engineer. If a casing is used, the internal pipe shall be adequately supported throughout the entire length of the

carrier pipe. The end openings shall be grouted and/or bricked shut. Prior to pulling, the fused pipe shall not impede any walkway or roadway facilities. The cutter head shall be sized as close as possible to the diameter of the outer pipe to avoid excessive voids surrounding the bored hole. The bored hole shall be reinforced with a bentonite slurry. The permit holder shall limit the amount of slurry utilized to perform the boring operation. All excessive slurry shall be vacuumed from the bore pits. Any slurry that extrudes through the pavement or sidewalk surfaces shall immediately be removed.

Jacking: A casing pipe is required on all jacking installations, unless a certified MnDOT "jacking," reinforced concrete pipe is utilized for storm drainage applications. MnDOT Specifications shall govern placement. The auger shall not extend substantially beyond the casing pipe. The casing shall be filled with sand or pea rock and the ends shall be grouted and/or bricked shut.

Bore/Jacking Pits: The pit shall be located a minimum of five feet from the back of curb in an urban area or at least 10 feet from the nearest edge of the traveled lane in a rural area. All pits shall be protected with tight orange "snow" fence, flashers, barrels, Jersey barrier, sheeting, cribbing, etc. or as required by the county. The contractor shall take every precaution feasible to protect open excavations at all times. Whenever possible, the excavation shall be backfilled and properly compacted at the conclusion of the work shift. No excavation shall be made in advance of the actual work within the excavation.

#### Bituminous Pavement:

- No opening shall be made in bituminous pavements unless certified hot mix asphalt is available, except for emergencies.
- Permits Office staff shall determine the pavement opening dimensions.
- The pavement shall be sawed or milled in a neat, straight vertical line. The sides of the pavement shall be smooth, to insure a uniform bond to the new patch.
- A bituminous tack coat meeting the requirements of MnDOT specifications shall be applied to all bituminous or concrete adjacent surfaces prior to placing bituminous mix. If an emulsified tack coat is utilized, adequate time shall be given to ensure the "breakdown" of the tack coat prior to mix placement.
- Bituminous surfaces shall be replaced with mix conforming to MnDOT specifications.
- The permit holder shall remove and deliver all bituminous pavements to a bituminous recycling facility.
- Any pavement that has been scarred by equipment, lugs, cleats, teeth, etc. shall be repaired or replaced as directed by the engineer.

#### Concrete Pavement:

- No opening shall be made in concrete pavements during winter months, except for emergencies.
- The pavement shall be sawed the full depth of the concrete, removed, and delivered to a concrete recycling facility.
- Concrete surfaces shall be replaced with High Early concrete conforming to MnDOT specifications.
- The concrete pavement installation shall conform to MnDOT specifications.

- If the concrete pavement replacement is within three feet of a construction joint, the removal shall include all pavement to the joint.
- A minimum of 72 hours curing time is required prior to placement of traffic on patch.
- Reference shall be made to "Hennepin County Concrete Repair Plate A" requirements for proper rebar placement.

#### Restoration:

- The right-of-way shall be left in original or better condition.
- Restoration shall be continuous with job progress.
- Urban boulevards shall be sodded and rural ditch areas shall be seeded, conforming to MnDOT specifications unless otherwise directed by the engineer.
- A minimum of three inch depth of topsoil meeting MnDOT specifications shall be placed in either application.
- All trees or substantial shrubs removed must be replaced as approved by the engineer.
- The permit holder shall be responsible for maintenance of any failures due to settlement, erosion, lack of vegetation growth, rutting, or other job related problems for a period of 24 months after completion of project and the county has received Notice of Work Completion.
- The permit holder shall be responsible for immediate replacement of any damaged sign within county right-of-way.

# APPENDIX C: MINNESOTA STATUTES SECTION 216D.03 to 216D.07

#### MINNESOTA STATUTES 2017

216D.03

#### 216D.03 NOTIFICATION CENTER.

1

Subdivision 1. Participation. An operator shall participate in and share in the costs of one statewide notification center operated by a vendor selected under subdivision 2.

- Subd. 2. Establishment of notification center; rules. (a) The notification center services must be provided by a nonprofit corporation approved in writing by the commissioner. The nonprofit corporation must be governed by a board of directors of up to 20 members, one of whom is the director of the Office of Pipeline Safety. The other board members must represent and be elected by operators, excavators, and other persons eligible to participate in the center. In deciding to approve a nonprofit corporation, the commissioner shall consider whether it meets the requirements of this paragraph and whether it demonstrates that it has the ability to contract for and implement the notification center service.
  - (b) The commissioner shall adopt rules:
- establishing a notification process and competitive bidding procedure for selecting a vendor to provide the notification service;
  - (2) governing the operating procedures and technology needed for a statewide notification center; and
  - (3) setting forth the method for assessing the cost of the service among operators.
- (c) The commissioner shall select a vendor to provide the notification center service. The commissioner may advertise for bids as provided in section 16C.06, subdivisions 1 and 2, and base the selection of a vendor on best value as provided in section 16C.06, subdivision 6. The commissioner shall select and contract with the vendor to provide the notification center service, but all costs of the center must be paid by the operators. The commissioner may at any time appoint a task force to advise on the renewal of the contract or any other matter involving the center's operations.
- (d) An operator may submit a bid and be selected to contract to provide the notification center service under paragraph (a) or (c). The commissioner shall annually review the services provided by the nonprofit corporation approved under paragraph (a) or the vendor selected under paragraph (c).
- Subd. 3. Cooperation with local government. In establishing operating procedures and technology for the statewide notification center, the board of directors or the commissioner must work in cooperation with the League of Minnesota Cities, the Association of Minnesota Counties, and the Township Officers' Association. The purpose of this cooperation is to maximize the participation of local governmental units that issue permits for activities involving excavation to assure that excavators receive notice of and comply with the requirements of sections 216D.01 to 216D.07.
- Subd. 4. Notice to local government. The notification center shall provide local governmental units with a master list, by county, of the operators in the county who are participants in the notification center, and the telephone number and mailing address of the notification center.

History: 1987 c 353 s 9; 1997 c 187 art 1 s 15; 1998 c 386 art 2 s 69

#### 216D.04 EXCAVATION; LAND SURVEY.

Subdivision 1. Notice required; contents. (a) Except in an emergency, an excavator shall and a land surveyor may contact the notification center and provide notice at least 48 hours, excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays and not more than 14 calendar days before beginning any excavation or boundary survey. An excavation or boundary survey begins, for purposes of this requirement, the first time excavation or a boundary survey occurs in an area that was not previously identified by the excavator or land surveyor in the notice.

- (b) The notice may be oral or written, and must contain the following information:
- (1) the name of the individual providing the notice;
- (2) the precise location of the proposed area of excavation or survey;
- (3) the name, address, and telephone number of the individual or individual's company;
- (4) the field telephone number, if one is available;
- (5) the type and extent of the activity;
- (6) whether or not the discharge of explosives is anticipated;
- (7) the date and time when the excavation or survey is to commence; and
- (8) the estimated duration of the activity.

Subd. 1a. Plans for excavation. (a) Any person, prior to soliciting bids or entering into a contract for excavation, shall provide a proposed notice to the notification center to obtain from the affected operators of underground facilities the type, size, and general location of underground facilities. Affected operators shall provide the information within 15 working days. An operator who provides information to a person who is not a unit of government may indicate any portions of the information which are proprietary and may require the person to provide appropriate confidentiality protection. The information obtained from affected operators must be submitted on the final drawing used for the bid or contract and must depict the utility quality level of that information. This information must be updated not more than 90 days before completion of the final drawing used for the bid or contract.

- (b) This subdivision does not apply to bids and contracts for:
- (1) routine maintenance of underground facilities or installation, maintenance, or repair of service lines;
- (2) excavation for operators of underground facilities performed on a unit of work or similar basis; or
- (3) excavation for home construction and projects by home owners.
- (c) A person required by this section to show existing underground facilities on its drawings shall conduct one or more preliminary design meetings during the design phase to communicate the project design and coordinate utility relocation. Affected facility operators shall attend these meetings or make other arrangements to provide information.
- (d) A person required by this section to show existing underground facilities on its drawings shall conduct one or more preconstruction meetings to communicate the project design and coordinate utility relocation. Affected facility operators and contractors shall attend these meetings or make other arrangements to provide information.

(d) The excavator is responsible for reasonably protecting and preserving the marks until no longer required for proper and safe excavation near the underground facility. If the excavator has reason to believe the marks are obliterated, obscured, missing, or incorrect, the excavator shall notify the facility operator or notification center in order to have an operator verify or refresh the marks.

History: 1987 c 353 s 10; 1992 c 493 s 5; 1993 c 341 art 1 s 21; 1997 c 196 s 1; 1998 c 348 s 1-3; 2004 c 163 s 2-6

- (e) This subdivision does not affect the obligation to provide a notice of excavation as required under subdivision 1.
- Subd. 2. Duties of notification center; regarding notice. The notification center shall assign an inquiry identification number to each notice and retain a record of all notices received for at least six years. The center shall immediately transmit the information contained in a notice to every operator that has an underground facility in the area of the proposed excavation or boundary survey.
- Subd. 3. Locating underground facility; operator. (a) Prior to the excavation start time on the notice, an operator shall locate and mark or otherwise provide the approximate horizontal location of the underground facilities of the operator and provide readily available information regarding the operator's abandoned and out-of-service underground facilities as shown on maps, drawings, diagrams, or other records used in the operator's normal course of business, without cost to the excavator. The excavator shall determine the precise location of the underground facility, without damage, before excavating within two feet of the marked location of the underground facility.
- (b) Within 96 hours or the time specified in the notice, whichever is later, after receiving a notice for boundary survey from the notification center, excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays, unless otherwise agreed to between the land surveyor and operator, an operator shall locate and mark or otherwise provide the approximate horizontal location of the underground facilities of the operator, without cost to the land surveyor.
- (c) For the purpose of this section, the approximate horizontal location of the underground facilities is a strip of land two feet on either side of the underground facilities.
- (d) Markers used to designate the approximate location of underground facilities must follow the current color code standard used by the American Public Works Association.
- (e) If the operator cannot complete marking of the excavation or boundary survey area before the excavation or boundary survey start time stated in the notice, the operator shall promptly contact the excavator or land surveyor.
- (f) After December 31, 1998, operators shall maintain maps, drawings, diagrams, or other records of any underground facility abandoned or out-of-service after December 31, 1998.
- (g) An operator or other person providing information pursuant to this subdivision is not responsible to any person, for any costs, claims, or damages for information provided in good faith regarding abandoned, out-of-service, or private or customer-owned underground facilities.
- Subd. 4. Locating underground facility; excavator or land surveyor. (a) The excavator or land surveyor shall determine the precise location of the underground facility, without damage, before excavating within two feet on either side of the marked location of the underground facility.
- (b) If the excavator or land surveyor cancels the excavation or boundary survey, the excavator or land surveyor shall cancel the notice through the notification center.
- (c) The notice is valid for 14 calendar days from the start time stated on the notice. If the activity will continue after the expiration time, then the person responsible for the activity shall serve an additional notice at least 48 hours, excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays, before the expiration time of the original notice, unless the excavator makes arrangements with the operators affected to periodically verify or refresh the marks, in which case the notice is valid for six months from the start time stated on the notice.

#### 216D.05 PRECAUTIONS TO AVOID DAMAGE.

An excavator shall:

- plan the excavation to avoid damage to and minimize interference with underground facilities in and near the construction area;
  - (2) use white markings for proposed excavations except where it can be shown that it is not practical;
- (3) maintain a clearance between an underground facility and the cutting edge or point of any mechanized equipment, considering the known limit of control of the cutting edge or point to avoid damage to the facility;
- (4) provide support for underground facilities in and near the construction area, including during backfill operations, to protect the facilities; and
  - (5) conduct the excavation in a careful and prudent manner.

History: 1987 c 353 s 11; 1998 c 348 s 4; 2004 c 163 s 7

#### 216D.06 DAMAGE TO FACILITY.

Subdivision 1. Notice; repair. (a) If any damage occurs to an underground facility or its protective covering, the excavator shall notify the operator promptly. When the operator receives a damage notice, the operator shall promptly dispatch personnel to the damage area to investigate. If the damage results in the escape of any flammable, toxic, or corrosive gas or liquid or endangers life, health, or property, the excavator responsible shall immediately notify the operator and the 911 public safety answering point, as defined in section 403.02, subdivision 19, and take immediate action to protect the public and property. The excavator shall also attempt to minimize the hazard until arrival of the operator's personnel or until emergency responders have arrived and completed their assessment. The 911 public safety answering point shall maintain a response plan for notifications generated by this section.

- (b) An excavator shall delay backfilling in the immediate area of the damaged underground facilities until the damage has been investigated by the operator, unless the operator authorizes otherwise. The repair of damage must be performed by the operator or by qualified personnel authorized by the operator.
- (c) An excavator who knowingly damages an underground facility, and who does not notify the operator as soon as reasonably possible or who backfills in violation of paragraph (b), is guilty of a misdemeanor.
- Subd. 2. Cost reimbursement. (a) If an excavator damages an underground facility, the excavator shall reimburse the operator for the cost of necessary repairs, and for a pipeline the cost of the product that was being carried in the pipeline and was lost as a direct result of the damage.
- (b) Reimbursement is not required if the damage to the underground facility was caused by the sole negligence of the operator or the operator failed to comply with section 216D.04, subdivision 3.
- Subd. 3. Prima facie evidence of negligence. It is prima facie evidence of the excavator's negligence in a civil court action if damage to the underground facilities of an operator resulted from excavation, and the excavator failed to give an excavation notice under section 216D.04 or provide support as required by section 216D.05.

History: 1987 c 353 s 12; 1999 c 43 s 1

#### 216D.07 EFFECT ON LOCAL ORDINANCES.

- (a) Sections 216D.01 to 216D.07 do not affect or impair local ordinances, charters, or other provisions of law requiring permits to be obtained before excavating.
- (b) A person with a permit for excavation from the state or a public agency is subject to sections 216D.01 to 216D.07. The state or public agency that issued a permit for excavation is not liable for the actions of an excavator who fails to comply with sections 216D.01 to 216D.07.

History: 1987 c 353 s 13